Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-08-2023 Page 1 of 36

FILED 05-08-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Court of Appeals Case No.: 2023AP000086 - CR

v.

ROGER JAMES GOLLON,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DATED JUNE 13, 2022, DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS, AND A JUDGMENT DATED JANUARY 6, 2023, OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE THOMAS B. EAGON, PRESIDING

ANDREW MISHLOVE, ESQ. MISHLOVE AND STUCKERT, LLC

4425 North Port Washington Road Glendale, WI 53212 414.332.3499 andrew@mishloveandstuckert.com

ISSUES PRESENTED

- Did the circuit court err by failing to find that law enforcement illegally entered the home's curtilage?
 Not addressed by the circuit court.
- Did law enforcement illegally enter the home's curtilage?Not addressed by the circuit court.
- 3. Did the circuit court err by failing to find that shining a flashlight into a home at 2a.m., while other officers entered the curtilage, constituted an illegal search?

Answered the circuit court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant Dr. Roger James Gollon does not request oral argument because it would not assist the court in resolving the issues raised in this case.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The opinion in the case should be published in the official reports. The first and second issue presented implicates the "community caretaker" exception to a warrantless search, which was relied on by the State. In *Caniglia v. Strom*, 141 S. Ct. 1596 (2021), however, the United States Supreme Court held that the community caretaker doctrine cannot be used to

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-08-2023 Page 6 of 36

justify a warrantless intrusion into a home. There is apparently no published Wisconsin case comprehensively addressing *Caniglia v. Strom*.

Additionally, if the court reaches the second issue of whether shining a flashlight into a private residence at 2 a.m. under the totality of the circumstances constitutes a search, it will enunciate, for the first time in Wisconsin, whether such conduct violates the requirement that a search of a home requires either a warrant or probable cause and an exigent circumstance. Not only is this an issue of first impression in the official reports, but it is also one of substantial statewide public interest.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This case involves the conviction of Appellant Dr. Roger James Gollon ("Dr. Gollon"), which arose from a no-injury accident in which he pleaded no contest to operating a motor vehicle while under the influence as a second offense. (R.55:1; Tr. 1/6/2023 2:14-15, 3:12-19.) Dr. Gollon filed a motion to suppress evidence, which was denied. (R.44:1.) He subsequently entered a no contest plea, and filed this appeal. R.55:1; Tr. 1/6/2023 2:14-15, 3:12-19.)

On July 22, 2021, Dr. Gollon filed a motion to suppress evidence derived from the unlawful entry of law enforcement officers onto the

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-08-2023 Page 7 of 36

curtilage of his home. (R.15:1.) In response, the State conceded that law enforcement entered the curtilage of Dr. Gollon's home but alleged that the "search of the house was justified without a warrant under the community caretaker exception[.]" (R.18:1.)

On October 1, 2021, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress. (R.41.) At the hearing Officer Alexander Beach of the City of Stevens Point Police Department testified that on March 26, 2021, he responded to a vehicle accident at approximately 1:45 a.m. (R.15:1; R.41 6-7.) Officer Beach stated that he went to Dr. Gollon's address, because he was the registered owner of the vehicle. (R.41. 7-8, 10.) Police made this determination from the bumper containing the license plate that remained at the scene. (R.41. 7-8.) The vehicle's main body was gone. (R.41. 10.) Officer Beach was informed that "there was a crash where somebody had possibly hit some sort of pipe or gas line." (Id.) Officer Beach did not know how many people were in the vehicle when it crashed or if there were any injuries. (R.41. 13.)

When Officer Beach arrived at Dr. Gollon's residence with another deputy he knocked on the front door and rang the doorbell. (R.41. 8-9.) He looked through the front door window and observed a light on and "feet

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-08-2023 Page 8 of 36

sticking out in the hallway from the kitchen." (R.41. 9.) It "looked like someone was laying on the floor." (Id.) He "continued to then shine the light and knock on the front door, ring the doorbell to try to get the person to wake up or respond." (R.41. 10.) The feet then appeared to stand up and retreat from view. As Officer Beach was knocking on the door and ringing the bell, Sergeant Michael Long stepped off the paved walkway and walked into a more secluded, grassy area around the side of the house. There, he peered into a raised garage window and observed a vehicle matching the description of the bumper found at the scene of the accident. (R.15:2; R.41. 11, 17-18, 21.)

Sergeant Long then returned to the front of the house and reported finding the vehicle to Officer Beach. Officer Beach continued knocking loudly. (R.15:2; R.41. 34.) The continued efforts were based on the information gathered, including that the car that matched the bumper left at the crash scene was in the garage. (R.15:2; R.41. 34.)

Officer Beach was not certain how long he was at the residence, but speculated it was "[p]otentially five minutes. (R.41. 14.) Multiple officers knocked on the door with Officer Beach (R.41 18.) Dr. Gollon eventually answered the door. (R.41. 11-12, 14.)

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-08-2023 Page 9 of 36

Officer Beach was recording the incident on his body cam, but the recording is not in the record. (R.41. 14-15; R.42. p.2)

Sergeant Long also testified that he responded to the crash. (R.41. 23-24.) He observed that the vehicle struck some cedar trees and a gas pipe or gas marker. (R.41. 26.) He then proceeded to Dr. Gollon's residence, left the pathway, and went around the side of the house "to a window that looked into the garage to see if the car was there, if it was even there or not." (R.15:2; R.41. 27, 32.) Sergeant Long agreed that this was "a private area of the property." (R.41. 36-17.) When he looked into the window of the closed garage, he saw a vehicle that matched the bumper's color. (R.41. 28, 33.) After observing the vehicle in the garage, Sergeant Long went back to the front door, reported his observations to Officer Beach, and they renewed banging on the door with other officers. (R.41 28.) After returning to the door, Officer Beach informed Sergeant Long he saw someone laying on the floor with their feet sticking out. (R.41 28.) Officer Josh McLouth additionally testified that he "peer[ed] through the windows, the door[.]" (R.41. 40, 43.) There were at least four law enforcement agents at the residence. (A. App. 42.)

Sergeant Long was wearing a body camera, but it also is not in the record. Inexplicably, this video, which would show Sergeant Long's violation of the curtilage was never produced by the state. The state explained that it was lost (R.41. 31.; R:42, p 2).

Without citing any law in its order, the circuit court denied Dr. Gollon's motion to suppress. The court simply held that Dr. Gollon had no reasonable expectation of privacy. (R.44.1-3.) The court ignored the testimony evidence that Sergeant Long entered the premises' secluded curtilage, and the circuit court ignored Dr. Gollon's arguments on that point. (R.44:1-3.) The court declined to address whether officers entered the curtilage based on a valid exception, despite that this was the basis of Dr. Gollon's motion, and the State conceded that officers entered the curtilage. (R.44:1-3).

Additionally, the court failed to address that the continued knocking and doorbell ringing was a result of the information gathered by law enforcement, including the car observed by Sergeant Long after going around the side of Dr. Gollon's residence and looking in his garage window. (R.44:1-3; R.41 34.)

The court failed to consider that multiple officers were banging at the door at 2 a.m., which departed from a reasonable "knock and talk." The court further failed to discuss whether law enforcement had probable cause to enter the curtilage of the home. (R.44:1-3.) Nor did it address whether any exigency was present. (R.44:1-3.)

Notably, the State and circuit court did not address or rely on any other legal doctrine that would make an illegal search or evidence derived from that illegal search admissible.

On January 6, 2023, Dr. Gollon entered a plea of no contest as to Count 1, operating a motor vehicle while under the influence, as a second offense. (R.55:1; Tr. 1/6/2023 2:14-15, 3:12-19.)

This appeal followed and other relevant facts are developed as necessary in the body of this brief.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court Erred by Ignoring that Law Enforcement Illegally Entered the Curtilage of Dr. Gollon's Home

An order granting or denying a motion to suppress presents a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 13, 327 Wis.2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. This Court reviews the circuit court's findings of fact under

a clearly erroneous standard, but "[t]he application of constitutional principles to those facts is a question of law review[ed] de novo." *Id*.

"It is axiomatic that the 'physical entry of the home is the chief evil against which the wording of the Fourth Amendment is directed." Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 748 (1984) (citation omitted). The Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement is a fundamental safeguard against unnecessary invasions into private homes that is imposed on all governmental agents who seek to enter the home for purposes of search or arrest. Id. at 748. All warrantless searches and seizures inside a home are presumptively unreasonable. Id. at 748-49; Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980); State v. Reed, 2018 WI 109, ¶¶ 52, 54 & n.27, 384 Wis.2d 469, 920 N.W.2d 56.

The "very core" of this guarantee is "the right of a man [or woman] to retreat into his [or her] own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion." *Florida* v. *Jardines*, 569 U.S. 1, 6 (2013).

An individual is generally entitled to the same Fourth Amendment protection in the curtilage of his or her home as if he or she were inside the home. *United States v. Dunn*, 480 U.S. 294, 300, (1987); *State v. Martwick*, 2000 WI 5, ¶26, 231 Wis.2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 (citing *Oliver v. United*

States, 466 U.S. 170, 180 (1984)); State v. Dumstrey, 2016 WI 3, ¶¶22-23, 366 Wis.2d 64, 873 N.W.2d 502.

Curtilage is "the area to which extends the intimate activity associated with the 'sanctity of a [person's] home and the privacies of life." *Oliver*, 466 U.S. at 180 (citation omitted).

Under certain limited exceptions police may enter a property's curtilage. *State v. Hay*, 2020 WI.App. 35, ¶11, 392 Wis.2d 845, 946 N.W.2d 190. To do so, however, "police officers need either a warrant, or probable cause *plus* exigent circumstances in order to make a lawful entry into a home." *Kirk v. Louisiana*, 536 U.S. 635, 638 (2002) (emphasis added); see also *State v. Ferguson*, 317 Wis.2d 586, ¶29 767 N.W.2d 187 (2009) ("[C]ourts, in evaluating whether a warrantless entry is justified by exigent circumstances, should consider whether the underlying offense is a jailable or nonjailable offense"). The State bears the burden of demonstrating that the warrantless entry was both supported by probable cause and justified by exigent circumstances. *Hay*, 392 Wis.2d 845, ¶11.

"Probable cause to arrest is the quantum of evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed

or was committing a crime." *State v. Secrist*, 224 Wis.2d 201, ¶19, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999). For probable cause to exist, "[t]here must be more than a possibility or suspicion that the defendant committed an offense, but the evidence need not reach the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt or even that guilt is more likely than not." *Id*.

It is well established that "[w]arrantless entry is permissible only where there is urgent need to do so, coupled with insufficient time to secure a warrant." *State v. Smith*, 131 Wis.2d 220, 228, 388 N.W.2d 601 (1986), abrogated on other grounds by *State v. Felix*, 2012 WI 36, 339 Wis. 2d 670 ¶42, 811 N.W.2d 775.

There are four well-recognized categories of exigent circumstances that have been held to authorize a law enforcement officer's warrantless entry into a home: (1) hot pursuit of a suspect, (2) a threat to the safety of a suspect or others, (3) a risk that evidence will be destroyed, and (4) a likelihood that the suspect will flee. *State v. Richter*, 2000 WI 58, ¶29, 235 Wis.2d 524, 612 N.W.2d 29.

Law Enforcement Illegally Intruded on the Curtilage

The circuit court failed to consider that law enforcement violated the curtilage of Dr. Gollon's premises by departing the walkway, entering his

> side yard, and looking into an attached garage window. (R.44:1-3.) This was despite the fact that Dr. Gollon's motion to suppress was grounded on that illegal entry, and the State conceded entry into the curtilage. (R.15:2; R. 18:1-2.). Sergeant Long testified that he departed the walkway to enter "a private area of the property." (R.41. 36-17.) The state conceded that Sergeant Long entered the curtilage of the secluded grassy area immediately to the side of the house to look inside the attached garage. See State v. Walker, 154 Wis.2d 158, 182, 453 N.W.2d 127 (1990) (quoting Oliver, 466 U.S. at 180 (stating that the protections of the Fourth Amendment extend beyond the walls of the home to the "curtilage" or "land immediately surrounding and associated with the home."). The photographs show that this area is not visible from the street, nor is it even visible from the driveway in front of the house. Hence, Sergeant Long correctly admitted it was "private."

> Attached garages are part of a home's curtilage. See *State v. Leutenegger*, 2004 WI App 127, ¶21 n.5, 275 Wis. 2d 512, 685 N.W.2d 536 (attached garages, consistently held to be part of curtilage, are subject to the warrant requirement); see also *State v. O'Brien*, 223 Wis. 2d 303, 317-18,

588 N.W.2d 8 (1999) (premises warrant authorizes search of all "plausible receptacles," including vehicles in curtilage).

In *Collins v. Virginia*, 584 U.S. ____ (2018), the U.S. Supreme Court held that a motorcycle parked on the side of the defendant's home, and covered by a tarp, was inside the protected curtilage of the premises, and therefore not subject to a warrantless search. The Court reasoned:

The "conception defining the curtilage' is . . . familiar enough that it is 'easily understood from our daily experience." *Jardines*, 569 U.S. at 7 (quoting *Oliver*, 466 U.S., at 182, n. 12). Just like the front porch, side garden, or area "outside the front window," *Jardines*, 569 U.S., at 6, the driveway enclosure where Officer Rhodes searched the motorcycle constitutes "an area adjacent to the home and 'to which the activity of home life extends," and so is properly considered curtilage, *Id.* at 7 (quoting *Oliver*, 466 U.S., at 182, n. 12).

Collins v. Virginia, 584 U.S. __ (2018).

In the present case, which involved far more invasive conduct, officers departed the pathway leading to the front door in the early morning hours, proceeded to the grassy side yard, and looked into a window. In *Collins*, however, police were merely on the defendant's driveway. But here, law enforcement went beyond *Collins* by peering into the interior of the home from the vantage point of private areas of the property. Sergeant Long left the walkway to the home and walked around the side yard, searched the

garage by peering into the side window, and entered the premises' curtilage. See *State v. Popp*, 2014 WI App 100, ¶26, 357 Wis. 2d 696, 855 N.W.2d 471 (officers walking up back steps, onto the porch, and peering into the window constituted a search subject to constitutional protections).

To the extent the State raised the plain view doctrine, that argument fails. (R.18:7.) *State v. Davis*, 333 Wis.2d 490, 798 N.W.2d 902, 2011 WI App 74, ¶¶ 15-16, held that it is "unreasonable" for law enforcement to proceed to an area of the home that is "not visible" from a lawful vantage point. Therefore, because law enforcement had no right to enter the home's curtilage and view the vehicle inside the garage, the plain view doctrine cannot apply to allow evidence subsequently derived from the investigation. See *Davis*, 2011 WI App 74, ¶ 16.

The circuit court erred, as Sergeant Long and other officers violated Dr. Gollon's right to be free from an illegal search of the curtilage of his home.

The State Argued that Police had Reasonable Suspicion of Wrongdoing, but the Standard for Warrantless Entry to the Curtilage Requires Both Probable Cause and Exigent Circumstances

There is no dispute that law enforcement did not have a warrant. Thus, the search of Dr. Gollon's premises in the curtilage of his home was presumptively unreasonable. *See Payton*, 445 U.S. at 586.

The circuit court did not specifically address whether law enforcement had probable cause to enter upon the curtilage. (R.44:1-3.) The State argued that law enforcement "had reasonable suspicion of wrongdoing based on the evidence that Mr. Gollon's vehicle was involved in a crash several houses away from his residence[.]" (R.18:4.) The State never argued that officers had probable cause and it was not discussed at the evidentiary hearing. (R.18:1-10. See generally R.41. 1-57.) Reasonable suspicion is a lower quantum of evidence than probable cause. Probable cause to enter curtilage requires more than a reasonable suspicion or possibility that the suspect committed a crime. See *Secrist*, 224 Wis.2d 201, ¶19. And in this case, the police had no evidence of anything more than civil traffic violations, at best.

Therefore, even assuming, *arguendo*, that an exigent circumstance existed, police were not justified in entering the curtilage because there was no showing of probable cause. See *Hay*, 392 Wis.2d 845, ¶11; *Kirk*, 536 U.S.

at 638; *Ferguson*, 317 Wis.2d 586, ¶29 (explaining that officers need *both* probable cause and an exigent circumstance to enter curtilage).

Because probable cause is a necessary precondition to law enforcement legally entering a residence's curtilage without a warrant, the circuit court erroneously neglected to consider whether there was probable cause. In so doing, it erred in denying the motion to suppress.

There Were No Exigent Circumstances, and the Community Caretaker Function Does Not Extend to the Home

There was no showing of exigent circumstances justifying entrance to the protected curtilage. Thus, even if there was probable cause, law enforcement illegally entered the curtilage because no exception to a warrantless search of the home existed.

The State relied on the community caretaker "exception" in arguing that the police violation of the curtilage of Dr. Gollon's home was justified. (R.18:1-2.) Specifically, while conceding that the officers searched the residence by looking through windows of the house and the garage, the state argued that it was part of the community caretaker function to gather additional evidence to address the seriousness of the situation." (R.18:5.)

This argument is nonsensical, as the community caretake function is not a matter of gathering evidence.

The community caretaker "exception" is no longer considered as an exception to the warrant requirement. Rather it is a police function that may trigger an exception. Moreover, it does not apply to the curtilage of a residence. In *Caniglia v. Strom*, 141 S. Ct. 1596 (2021), a unanimous United States Supreme Court held that the community caretaker doctrine cannot be used to justify a warrantless intrusion into a home. Rather, the exception applies to searches of automobiles. The Court noted the 'constitutional difference' between a home and a vehicle. *Id.* at 1599.

Moreover, any "[c]ommunity caretaker action is that which is totally divorced from the detection, investigation or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." *State v. Ellenbecker*, 159 Wis.2d 91, 96, 464 N.W.2d 427, 429 (1990). In this case, however, Sergeant Long admitted that he was looking for evidence of the car that was involved in a hit and run. (R.41. 27.)

Although the circuit court acknowledged in a footnote that the community caretaker exception was inapplicable to the instant case, it nonetheless relied on the doctrine. (R.44:1) It found that "Officer Long

expressed concern, because the crash of a car and leaving a "chunk" of it there, he didn't know if there's any kind of injury or possibly impaired driving or anything along those lines after arriving at the defendant's house." (R.44:2.) The court further noted that officers went to Dr. Gollon's residence to conduct their investigation and "to check for the welfare of the owner or operator[.]" (R.44:2.) See generally *State v. Ultsch*, 2011 WI App 17, ¶15, 331 Wis. 2d 242, 793 N.W.2d 505 (stating that in evaluating whether the officer was acting as a bona fide community caretaker, the court must carefully examine the expressed concern for which the community caretaker function was undertaken, and "[t]he question is whether there is an 'objectively reasonable basis' to believe there is 'a member of the public who is in need of assistance."").

The court additionally found that "there was no 4th amendment violation as Officer Beach simply went to the front door of the defendant's house while investigating a crash with potential injury or violation." (R.44:3.)

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