FILED 07-14-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2023AP000086 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROGER JAMES GOLLON,

Defendant-Appellant,

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DATED JUNE 13, 2022, DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPRESS, AND A JUDGMENT DATED JANUARY 6, 2023, OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR PORTAGE COUNTY, BRANCH 1, THE HONORABLE THOMAS B. EAGON, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

CASSIDY COUSINS
District Attorney
Portage County

BRIAN J. PFEIL Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1029914

Attorneys for Plaintiff- Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides, "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized. U.S. CONST. amend. IV. The Wisconsin Constitution essentially mirrors the same language. *See* WIS. CONST. art. I, § 11. Warrantless searches "are per se unreasonable under the fourth amendment, subject to a few carefully delineated exceptions" that are "jealously and carefully drawn." *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis.2d 443, 449, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983) (citation omitted).

In May of 2021, the United States Supreme Court held that the community caretaker exception does not authorize the warrantless search of a residence. *Caniglia v. Strom*, 141 S. Ct 1596, 1600 (2021). Despite eliminating the community caretaker doctrine as an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement, the United States Supreme Court still recognizes that warrantless entry to a home may still be justified under the emergency aid doctrine "to render emergency assistance to an occupant or protect an occupant from imminent injury." *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 126 S.Ct. 1943, 164 L.Ed 2d 650 (2006).

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 7 of 14

In the State's Response to Defendant's Motion to Suppress Search, it conceded that law enforcement entered the curtilage of Dr. Gollon's home, but argued that the "search of the house was justified without a warrant under the community caretaker exception[.]" (R.18:1.) In retrospect, the State probably should have used the "emergency aid exception" as referenced in the footnote on page 2 of its Response. R.18: 1, fn. 1) As explained in that footnote, the "emergency aid" doctrine recognized by the United States Supreme Court is, essentially, the "community caretaker" standard was in Wisconsin. *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. The proper terminology, "emergency aid" rather than "community caretaker," will be utilized in this brief to avoid confusion.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals further recognized the legitimacy of the emergency aid exception in its post-Caniglia decision, State v. Ware, 2021 WI App 83, 400 Wis. 2d 118, 968 N.W.2d 752. The Court of Appeals noted that the community caretaker exception could no longer justify the warrantless search of the home in that instance, so it framed its analysis "using the related—but conceptually distinct—emergency aid exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment." State v. Ware, 2021 WI App 83, ¶15. As outlined in its Response to Defendant's Motion to Suppress Search, but mischaracterized as the "community caretaker" exception, the State argued that Lt. Long's search by peering into Dr. Gollon's garage without a warrant to determine if there was a vehicle parked in it that matched the vehicle involved in the crash a short distance away was justified under the emergency aid exception.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has long held that, "[T]he objective test of the emergency rule is satisfied when, under the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable person would have believed that: (1) there was an immediate need to provide aid or assistance to a person due to actual or threatened physical injury; and (2) that immediate entry into an area in which a person has a reasonable expectation of privacy was necessary in order to provide that aid or assistance." *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d at 452.

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 8 of 14

1. There Was An Immediate Need To Provide Aid Or Assistance To A Person Due To Actual Or Threatened Physical Injury Stemming From The Nearby Crash.

The evidence at the motion hearing showed that law enforcement received information about a single-car accident at the corner of Alder Street and, when they arrived at the scene, they observed damage to a tree and possibly a gas pipeline consistent with an automobile colliding with them. Law enforcement also found a bumper of a vehicle at the scene with a Wisconsin license plate attached to it, suggesting that it was from the car that was involved in the crash. The officers ran the license plate number through dispatch and found that the bumper belonged to a vehicle registered to the defendant, Dr. Roger Gollon, who only a few houses from the crash site.

Law enforcement then proceeded to the defendant's residence in a blend of their emergency aid and law enforcement functions to investigate the determine if anyone was injured and to further investigate the crash. Both Ofc. Beach and Sgt. Long testified that they were concerned that the driver, and/or someone else in the vehicle at the time of the crash, could have been injured and/or suffering from a medical condition that required medical attention. Sgt. Long even testified that it was part of his job to follow-up after a crash to see if anyone was injured.

Officer Beach proceeded to the front door of the residence and observed what appeared to be the lower legs of an individual lying on the floor toes up/back down inside the house. Sgt. Long arrived shortly thereafter and was advised of the situation (i.e. the person lying on the floor inside of the home).

The actions of law enforcement of going to the defendant's residence based on the evidence that the defendant's vehicle was involved in a crash several houses away from his residence only 15 minutes earlier, that the crash caused extensive damage to the vehicle, and that the driver of the defendant's vehicle then left the scene of the crash without reporting it to law enforcement.

Law enforcement was concerned about whether anyone was injured in the accident because the driver had fled the scene, which justified following-up at the defendant's Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 9 of 14

residence under their emergency aid function. "We have repeatedly explained that officers are charged with both law enforcement and community caretaker functions as part of their service of the public." *Pinkard*, 327 Wis.2d 346, ¶ 53.

As an officer goes about his or her duties, an officer cannot always ascertain which hat the officer will wear—his law enforcement hat or her community caretaker hat. . . . Accordingly, the officer may have law enforcement concerns, even when the officer has an objectively reasonable basis for performing a community caretaker function. To conclude otherwise would ignore the multifaceted nature of police work and force police officers to let down their guard and unnecessarily expose themselves to dangerous conditions. (citation omitted.)

State v. Blatterman, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 170-71, 864 N.W.2d 26 (2015).

Once law enforcement arrived at Mr. Gollon's residence, the first thing they observed was a body lying on the floor inside the residence. Assuming the emergency aid doctrine was not already triggered by the crash itself and subsequent flight by the driver, the police officer's observation of a motionless, non-responsive individual lying on the floor of the kitchen of the house belonging to the registered owner of the vehicle just involved in a significant crash created "an immediate need to provide aid or assistance." The combination of the crash and the initial observations of law enforcement upon arriving at the defendant's residence triggered their emergency aid function.

2. Immediate Entry Into An Area In Which A Person Has A Reasonable Expectation Of Privacy Was Necessary In Order To Provide That Aid Or Assistance, If Necessary.

Upon receiving information from Ofc. Beach that there was an unresponsive person lying prone in the kitchen of the residence, Sgt. Long peered into the garage through the window to see if a vehicle matching the one involved in the crash was inside it, which would have suggested that the person lying prone inside the residence was the person who was just involved in the crash, and may be in need of medical services.

The person on the floor then began to move a little after Ofc. Beach continued knocking on the door and ringing the doorbell. Minutes later this individual, later identified as the defendant, Dr. Gollon, got up in response to the continued knocking and ringing of the Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 10 of 14

doorbell, and met the officers at the front door before inviting them inside the residence. It was at this point law enforcement first observed indications exhibited by the defendant that he had previously consumed intoxicants. R.41:12. He then voluntarily showed law enforcement his vehicle in the garage where they observed bits of a tree in the front of the vehicle, and that it was missing the front bumper, suggesting that it was the one involved in the crash they were investigating. The defendant was ultimately arrested for operating under the influence as a second offense.

In response to their emergency aid function kicking in at the point they realized there was someone inside the house belonging to the owner of the vehicle that was just involved in a crash lying motionless and unresponsive on the floor of the kitchen, the officers then "searched" the residence by looking through the window of the garage as part of that emergency aid function in an effort to deduce the potential seriousness of the situation by determining whether the vehicle from the crash was present at the residence.

The United States Supreme Court has specifically approved of warrantless entry to a home "to render emergency assistance to an occupant or protect an occupant from imminent injury." *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 126 S.Ct. 1943, 164 L.Ed 2d 650 (2006). With regard to Dr. Gollon's residence, no actual physical entry to the home was made—instead, the officers took the less intrusive alternative of looking into windows to determine whether the car involved in the crash was present at the residence because it was relevant to the potential need for medical attention for the incapacitated individual on the floor inside the residence.

3. Under The Totality Of The Circumstances, The Search Of The Defendant's Residence By Peering Through The Window Of The Garage To Determine If A Vehicle Matching The One Involved In The Crash Was Warranted.

The objective test for whether the emergency aid doctrine applies to a warrantless search must be made "under the totality of circumstances." *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d at 452. Therefore, the question is whether the actions taken by the Stevens Point Police Department officers, in their dual function as law enforcement officers and emergency aid providers,

were reasonable under the totality of the circumstances that then existed to justify the warrantless search.

In *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81 at ¶ 59, the Court, in the context of discussing the community caretaking function, stated:

Principles of reasonableness demand that we ask ourselves whether "the officers would have been derelict in their duty had they acted otherwise." *Deneui*, 775 N.W.2d at 239 (quoting *State v. Hetzko*, 283 So.2d 49, 52 (Fla.Ct.App.1973)). Indeed, if the officers had done otherwise, perhaps by leaving the scene to obtain a warrant or waiting for an ambulance to arrive, we are convinced the citizens of the community would have understandably viewed the officers' actions as poor police work.

The law enforcement officers involved in this situation faced the same dilemma—take no action and risk harm to the motionless and non-responsive individual in the house, or take further minimally-intrusive action to gather more information as to whether the person lying prone in the house might have been involved in the crash. The officers chose to walk onto the grass of the residence and peer into the window of the garage without a warrant under their emergency aid function. They chose correctly.

4. The Use Of A Flashlight To Peer Into The Garage Does Not Render The Search Unjustified.

There was no testimony at the motion hearing about the use of a flashlight to peer into the garage window of the defendant's residence, and, therefore that issue is not the subject of this appeal. That being said, even if law enforcement did use a flashlight to do so, it does not affect the analysis under the emergency aid exception to the 4th Amendment's warrant requirement.

If the viewing of an object or area in natural light with the naked eye is not possible, the use of a flashlight in the darkness to illuminate the object or area for viewing should not convert the viewing into a search. The use of a flashlight to bring into plain sight what natural light would have revealed is not a search. *Bies v. State*, 76 Wis.2d 457, 472-73, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977) (the discovery of cable in a garage by the use of a flashlight while the officer was standing outside of the garage satisfied the plain view requirement of the plain view doctrine); *State v. Spraggin*, 71 Wis.2d 604, 610, 239 N.W.2d 297 (1976) (the discovery of

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 12 of 14

a gun in a garage by the use of a flashlight); *Sanders v. State*, 69 Wis.2d 242, 256, 230 N.W.2d 845 (1975) (the discovery of a box of cartridges in a room by the use of a flashlight did not render the plain view doctrine inapplicable); *Anderson v. State*, 66 Wis.2d 233, 223 N.W.2d 879 (1974) (the discovery of tools in a car by the use of a flashlight while the officer was standing outside of the car); *State v. Bell*, 62 Wis.2d 534, 541, 215 N.W.2d 535 (1974) (the discovery of items in a car by the use of a flashlight while the officer was standing outside of the car); *Warrix v. State*, 50 Wis.2d 368, 373-74, 184 N.W.2d 189 (1971) (the discovery of items in a car by the use of a flashlight while the officer was standing outside of the car).

If Sgt. Long used a flashlight to look into the garage window, it does not change the overall legality of the search. Plain view does not apply in this instance, but if Sgt. Long was justified to perform the search under the emergency aid doctrine, it makes little sense to render that search illegal simply because he may have used a flashlight. After all, it would make no sense to allow Sgt. Long to be in the grass and peer into the garage window as part of his emergency aid function as a law enforcement officer, but not be able to use a flashlight to actually see what he was looking for in the garage. That conclusion would lead to an absurd result.

CONCLUSION

Law enforcement's presence at the defendant's residence was justified at its inception because the driver of the vehicle involved in the crash a few residences away then left the scene of the crash without reporting the incident, and may have returned home. Then, upon arriving at the front door of the residence, they observed the feet of an individual lying in the kitchen motionless and unresponsive to the knocking on the door and ringing of the doorbell.

An objectively reasonable interpretation of a that situation is that the person was injured in the crash and returned home to treat his/her wounds and/or injuries, or have someone else assist in treating them. Law enforcement's subsequent conduct of peering into the window of the garage in response to this situation falls squarely within their capacity as emergency

Case 2023AP000086 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 13 of 14

aid providers. Within seconds they verified that the car involved in the accident was in the garage, which gave them an additional objectively reasonable basis to think that the driver of the vehicle was also the person on the floor inside the residence, and that the person may have been injured or in need of assistance based on the person being in a traffic crash 15 minutes earlier.

This is exactly what the community wants, and quite frankly expects, of law enforcement others. To hold that their actions were unjustified would impair the vital societal function that law enforcement officers perform in the community.